A.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1.  The evidence was insufficient to prove an element of the 

crime beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 2.  The trial court abused its discretion and violated Brian 

Jerue’s constitutional rights to confront the witnesses and present 

evidence in his defense by precluding him from cross-examining the 

complaining witness with evidence showing he had a motive to lie. 

B.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1.  An essential element of second degree robbery is that the 

accused took property through the use of actual or threatened force, 

violence or fear of injury.  Here, the evidence showed only that Mr. 

Jerue held up a bottle and asked the complaining witness if he had ever 

been hit with a bottle, and stated he was not afraid to do it.  But Mr. 

Jerue used no actual force and uttered no direct threat.  Did the State 

fail to prove the essential force element beyond a reasonable doubt? 

 2.  An accused in a criminal trial has a fundamental 

constitutional right to confront his accusers and present evidence in his 

defense.  This includes the right to cross-examine prosecution 

witnesses with evidence of their possible biases and motives.  Here, the 

State’s principal witness was a loss prevention officer who alleged Mr. 
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Jerue threatened him with a stolen liquor bottle when the officer 

confronted him outside the store.  The defense sought to cross-examine 

the loss prevention officer with evidence that he violated store policy 

when he grabbed Mr. Jerue by the shoulders as he exited the store.  The 

evidence was relevant to show the officer had a motive to downplay his 

own role in the confrontation and exaggerate Mr. Jerue’s threatening 

behavior.  Did the trial court violate Mr. Jerue’s constitutional rights to 

present evidence in his defense and confront his accusers when it 

prevented him from cross-examining the loss prevention officer with 

evidence that he violated store policy? 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On the afternoon of April 15, 2015, Mitchell Irons was working 

as a loss prevention officer at the Safeway in Marysville.  8/18/15RP 

12-15.  He observed Brian Jerue enter the store, walk to the liquor aisle, 

take two bottles of liquor from the shelf, and then walk out of the store 

without paying for the items.  8/18/15RP 23-25. 

 Mr. Irons followed Mr. Jerue, who was walking at a normal 

pace.  8/18/15RP 25, 51.  He caught up to Mr. Jerue outside the door, 

put his hands on his shoulders, and swung him around forcefully to 

face him.  8/18/15RP 25, 53.  Mr. Irons identified himself as a loss 
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prevention officer.  8/18/15RP 26.  According to him, the two then 

somehow ended up on the ground, although he does not recall what 

happened or why they fell to the ground.  8/18/15RP 26, 56.  Mr. Irons 

took Mr. Jerue back inside the store.  8/18/15RP 28, 32.  He had his 

hand on Mr. Jerue’s shoulder as he led him inside.  8/18/15RP 28, 32. 

 Mr. Irons admitted he violated store policy when he grabbed 

Mr. Jerue by the shoulders.  8/17/15RP 11.  The store prohibited its loss 

prevention officers from placing their hands on shoplifting suspects.  

8/17/15RP 9. 

 Soon after Mr. Irons and Mr. Jerue re-entered the store, Mr. 

Jerue managed to slip out of his jacket and break free of Mr. Irons’s 

grasp.  8/18/15RP 31, 62.  He ran out the other door and into the 

parking lot.  8/18/15RP 31.  He dropped the bottles but picked one of 

them up again.  8/18/15RP 34.  Mr. Irons ran after him and caught up to 

him at the corner of the parking lot.  8/18/15RP 36.  According to Mr. 

Irons, Mr. Jerue turned around, held up the bottle by the neck and asked 

Mr. Irons if he had “ever been hit with a bottle,” and said he was “a 

convicted felon” and was “not scared to do it.”  8/18/15RP 36. 

 Mr. Irons stopped following Mr. Jerue and called 911.  

8/18/15RP 40, 80.  Mr. Jerue took off running.  8/18/15RP 40.  Mr. 
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Irons told the 911 operator there had been a theft but did not mention 

any supposed threat.  8/18/15RP 40. 

 A police officer stopped Mr. Jerue a short distance away.  

8/18/15RP 136, 139.  Mr. Jerue was relaxed and cooperative.  

8/18/15RP 148-49.  He had fresh scratches on his arm.  8/18/15RP 105. 

 Mr. Jerue was charged with one count of second degree 

robbery.1  CP 72. 

 Before trial, the defense moved to admit evidence that Mr. Irons 

violated store policy when he placed his hands on Mr. Jerue.  

8/17/15RP 10.  The defense theory was that Mr. Irons lied when he 

claimed Mr. Jerue threatened him with the bottle because he did not 

want to get in trouble for violating store policy.  8/17/15RP 10-11.  Mr. 

Irons admitted he had violated the policy at least five to ten times and 

that he probably did so due to adrenaline.  8/18/15RP 4-5.  He tended to 

get so excited that he could not always control his actions.  8/18/15RP 

4-5.  The evidence that Mr. Irons violated store policy by grabbing Mr. 

Jerue supported the defense theory that Mr. Irons was the aggressor and 

that Mr. Jerue ran away because Mr. Irons was hurting him.  8/18/15RP 

                                                           

 
1
 Mr. Jerue was also charged with one count of third degree assault 

and the jury found him guilty.  CP 35, 72.  At sentencing, the court 

vacated the third degree assault charge on double jeopardy grounds and 

did not enter judgment on that charge.  8/21/15RP 6. 
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4-6.  Mr. Irons was motivated to lie about Mr. Jerue’s threat so that he 

would not appear to be the aggressor.  8/17/15RP 10; 8/18/15RP 4-5. 

 The court denied the motion, finding the evidence that Mr. Irons 

violated store policy was not relevant.  8/17/15RP 11-12; 8/18/15RP 7-

8. 

 The jury found Mr. Jerue guilty of second degree robbery as 

charged.  CP 37. 

D.  ARGUMENT 

1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Mr. Jerue used force or the threat 

of force to retain possession of the property. 
 

 The essential element that distinguishes a robbery from a theft is 

that the accused took personal property “from the person of another or 

in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened 

use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person.”  

RCW 9A.56.190 (emphasis added); see CP 47-48 (jury instructions).  

Here, the State did not prove Mr. Jerue committed a robbery as 

opposed to a theft because it did not prove he used or threatened to use 

force or violence in committing the theft. 

The State was required to prove this essential element beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 
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S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 

364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; 

Const. art. I, § 3.  The question on review is whether a rational fact 

finder could have found the State proved the element beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 

(1980); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 

560 (1979).  Although the Court considers the evidence and all 

reasonable  inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the State, the State may not rely upon evidence that is “patently 

equivocal.”  State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8, 309 P.3d 318 (2013); 

State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 

“Robbery encompasses any ‘taking of . . . property [that is] 

attended with such circumstances of terror, or such threatening 

by menace, word or gesture as in common experience is likely to create 

an apprehension of danger and induce a man to part with property for 

the safety of his person.’”  State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 884, 

329 P.3d 888 (2014) (quoting State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 

624-25, 191 P.3d 99 (2008) (alterations in Shcherenkov)).  The Court 

applies an objective test to determine whether “the defendant used 

intimidation” and “an ordinary person in the victim’s position could 
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reasonably infer a threat of bodily harm from the defendant’s acts.”  

Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d at 884.  A threat can be communicated 

“directly or indirectly.”  RCW 9A.04.110(28); Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. 

App. at 624. 

Although a threat of immediate force may be implied, the 

evidence must show the threat was sufficiently serious and forceful to 

induce a reasonable person to part with his property.  State v. Clark, 

190 Wn. App. 736, 756-57, 361 P.3d 168 (2015). 

 Here, the State did not prove Mr. Jerue uttered a threat that was 

sufficiently serious or forceful to induce a reasonable person to part 

with his property.  Mr. Jerue did not utter a direct threat.  According to 

Mr. Irons, Mr. Jerue merely held up a bottle and asked if Mr. Irons had 

ever been hit with a bottle.  8/18/15RP 36.  He did not actually threaten 

to hit Mr. Irons with the bottle. 

 Moreover, there was no implied threat that was sufficient to 

induce a reasonable person to part with his property.  It was Mr. Irons 

who used force when he grabbed Mr. Jerue by the shoulders and swung 

him around to face him as he was exiting the store.  8/18/15RP 25, 53.  

Mr. Irons continued to maintain a hold on Mr. Jerue as he led him back 

into the store.  8/18/15RP 28, 32.  Mr. Jerue was merely trying to get 
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away.  8/18/15RP 31, 62.  Although he held up the bottle and asked Mr. 

Irons if he had ever been hit with a bottle, he did not lunge toward him 

or otherwise act as if he was going to hit him.  8/18/15RP 36.  He then 

ran away.  8/18/15RP 40.  He never touched Mr. Irons. 

 In sum, the evidence is not sufficient to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Mr. Jerue used “such circumstances of terror, or 

such threatening by menace, word or gesture as in common experience 

is likely to create an apprehension of danger and induce a man to part 

with property for the safety of his person.’”  Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 

at 884.  Thus, the State did not prove the elements of second degree 

robbery beyond a reasonable doubt and the conviction must be 

reversed. 

2. The court abused its discretion and violated 

Mr. Jerue’s constitutional rights to present a 

defense and confront his accusers by 

precluding him from cross-examining the 

complaining witness with evidence that he 

violated store policy by placing his hands on 

Mr. Jerue. 

  

 Mr. Irons’s testimony was the only evidence presented by the 

State to prove the essential force element that allegedly transformed 

this simple shoplifting incident into a robbery.  No other witnesses 

observed the interaction between Mr. Jerue and Mr. Irons in the parking 
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lot.  The State did not present any videotape evidence from the 

surveillance cameras at the store.  Thus, it was crucial that Mr. Jerue be 

given a full and fair opportunity to challenge Mr. Irons’s testimony and 

explore his possible biases and motives. 

 The trial court unfairly and unreasonably limited Mr. Jerue’s 

right to confront Mr. Irons by precluding him from presenting evidence 

that Mr. Irons had a motive to lie.  It was undisputed that Mr. Irons 

violated store policy when he placed his hands on Mr. Jerue and 

forcefully led him back into the store.  8/17/15RP 9, 11.  The fact that 

the store had a policy precluding its loss prevention officers from 

touching shoplifting suspects supports the defense theory that Mr. Irons 

was overly aggressive and confrontational.  Mr. Irons’s violation of the 

policy created a motive for him to underplay his role in the encounter 

and overplay Mr. Jerue’s supposed dangerousness.  Mr. Jerue should 

have been given an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Irons with 

evidence showing he had a motive to exaggerate his testimony. 

 A defendant’s right to impeach a prosecution witness with 

evidence of bias is guaranteed by the constitutional right to confront 

witnesses.  Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316-18, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 
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L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); State v. Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 69, 950 P.2d 

981 (1998); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. 

 In addition, “[t]he right of an accused in a criminal trial to due 

process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against 

the State’s accusations.”  Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 

90 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; 

Const. art. I, § 3.  A defendant’s right to present a defense includes the 

rights to examine witnesses against him, which is “basic in our system 

of jurisprudence.”  State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 

(2010) (citing Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294). 

 The constitutional right to confrontation encompasses the right 

to reveal the witness’s possible biases, prejudices, or ulterior motives.  

Davis, 415 U.S. at 316-18.  “The partiality of a witness is subject to 

exploration at trial, and is always relevant as discrediting the witness 

and affecting the weight of his testimony.”  Id. (internal quotation 

marks and citation omitted). 

 Moreover, “[w]here a case stands or falls on the jury’s belief or 

disbelief of essentially one witness, that witness’ credibility or motive 

must be subject to close scrutiny.”  State v. Roberts, 25 Wn. App. 830, 

834, 611 P.2d 1297 (1980). 
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 The accused has “great latitude” to present evidence showing 

the possible motives or biases of prosecution witnesses.  State v. 

Spencer, 111 Wn. App. 401, 410, 45 P.3d 209 (2002).  The evidence 

need be only “minimally relevant” to the witness’s bias.  State v. 

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983).  The court may exclude 

“minimally relevant” evidence of a witness’s bias only if the State’s 

countervailing interest is “compelling.”  Id. 

 Here, the evidence that Mr. Irons violated store policy by 

placing his hands on Mr. Jerue was at least “minimally relevant” to Mr. 

Irons’s possible bias and motive to lie.  The store’s policy prohibiting 

employees from physical contact with shoplifting suspects 

demonstrates the store’s judgment that such physical contact can 

exacerbate an already volatile situation.  Mr. Irons’s violation of the 

policy shows his actions were improper and overly aggressive.  It gave 

him a motive to exaggerate Mr. Jerue’s dangerousness and downplay 

his own culpability. 

 Whether or not Mr. Jerue uttered a threat was the central issue in 

the case.  The case turned on the jury’s belief or disbelief of essentially 

one witness—Mr. Irons.  Thus, Mr. Irons’s “credibility or motive [was] 

subject to close scrutiny.”  Roberts, 25 Wn. App. at 834.   
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 The trial court should have allowed Mr. Jerue to cross-examine 

Mr. Irons with evidence that he had a motive to exaggerate the alleged 

threat.  Denying Mr. Jerue that opportunity violated his fundamental 

constitutional rights. 

 Because a defendant has a constitutional right to impeach a 

prosecution witness with evidence of bias, any error in excluding such 

evidence is presumed prejudicial.  Spencer, 111 Wn. App. at 408.  The 

State must prove the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.  

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 724; Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 

S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). 

 In assessing harmlessness, the Court may not “speculate as to 

whether the jury, as sole judge of the credibility of a witness, would 

have accepted this line of reasoning had counsel been permitted to fully 

present it.”  Davis, 415 U.S. at 317.  Instead, the Court must conclude 

“the jurors were entitled to have the benefit of the defense theory 

before them so that they could make an informed judgment as to the 

weight to place on [the witness’s] testimony.”  Id. 

 Here, the jury should have been permitted to consider the 

defense theory that Mr. Irons had a motive to exaggerate Mr. Jerue’s 

supposedly threatening behavior.  Mr. Irons was the key prosecution 
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witness and his testimony about Mr. Jerue’s alleged threat was the only 

evidence of an essential element of the crime.  The State cannot prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that precluding the jury from considering 

whether Mr. Irons had a motive to exaggerate his testimony was 

harmless.  The conviction must be reversed. 

3.   Any request that costs be imposed on Mr. 

Jerue for this appeal should be denied because 

the trial court found he does not have the 

ability to pay legal financial obligations. 

 

 This Court has discretion to disallow an award of appellate costs 

if the State substantially prevails on appeal.  RCW 10.73.160(1); State 

v. Nolan, 141 Wn.2d 620, 626, 8 P.3d 300 (2000); State v. Sinclair, 192 

Wn. App. 380, 367 P.3d 612 (2016); RCW 10.73.160(1). 

 The imposition of costs against indigent defendants raises 

problems that are well documented.  Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 391.  

Such problems include “‘increased difficulty in reentering society, the 

doubtful recoupment of money by the government, and inequities in 

administration.’”  Id. (quoting State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 835, 

344 P.3d 680 (2015)).  The Court should be mindful of these concerns.  

Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 391. 

 A defendant’s inability to pay appellate costs is an important 

consideration to take into account in deciding whether to disallow 
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costs.  Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 391-92.  Here, the trial court found 

Mr. Jerue does not have the ability to pay legal financial obligations.  

At sentencing, the court imposed only what it deemed to be mandatory 

legal financial obligations.  CP 29.  The court specifically found Mr. 

Jerue is “absolutely buried under financial obligations given his 

criminal history and I would waive all the non mandatory LFO’s.”  

8/21/15RP 8.  The court also found Mr. Jerue is indigent for the 

purposes of appeal and is entitled to court-appointed appellate counsel 

and other costs of appeal at public expense.  Sub #43. 

 The record supports the court’s finding that Mr. Jerue is unable 

to pay appellate costs.  He has no income, assets or cash on hand; he is 

unemployed; and he has significant debt from prior court actions and 

medical bills totaling approximately $10,000.  Sub #42.  He received a 

prison sentence of 38 months and will be unable to earn a significant 

income during that time.  CP 27.  In addition, he has a chemical 

dependency that may hinder his ability to find steady employment.  CP 

25; 8/21/15RP 8. 

 Mr. Jerue’s indigency is presumed to continue throughout 

review absent a contrary order by the trial court.  Sinclair, 192 Wn. 

App. at 393; RAP 15.2(f). 
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 Given Mr. Jerue’s indigency, and the information in the record 

showing he does have the present or likely future ability to pay 

appellate costs, this Court should exercise its discretion and disallow 

appellate costs should the State substantially prevail.  Sinclair, 192 Wn. 

App. at 392-93. 

E.  CONCLUSION 

 The State did not prove all of the essential elements of the 

crime, requiring the conviction be reversed and the charge dismissed.  

In the alternative, the trial court abused its discretion and violated Mr. 

Jerue’s constitutional rights to confront his accusers and present 

evidence in his defense, requiring the conviction be reversed and 

remanded for a new trial.  This Court should not award appellate costs 

if the State substantially prevails.