NO. 74027-0-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

FILED
Jun 22, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN MICHAEL JERUE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE
Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW E. ALSDORF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504
Everett, Washington 98201
Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

against the defendant. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597, 888 P.2d 1105, cert. denied, 516 U.S. 843, 116 S.Ct. 131, 133 L.Ed.2d 79 (1995). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

RCW 9A.56.190 defines the crime of robbery as follows:

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. Such taking constitutes robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of force or fear.

“Robbery encompasses any taking of ... property [that is] attended with such circumstances of terror, or such threatening by menace, word or gesture as in common experience is likely to create an apprehension of danger and induce a man to part with property for the safety of his person.” State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 884, 329 P.3d 888 (2014), quoting State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 624–25, 191 P.3d 99 (2008). Reviewing courts use an objective test to determine whether “the defendant used intimidation” and “an ordinary person in the victim’s position could reasonably infer a threat

of bodily harm from the defendant's acts." Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d at 884. A threat can be communicated "directly or indirectly" and a threat of immediate force may be implied. RCW 9A.04.110(28); Shcherenkoy, 146 Wn. App. at 624. "Any force or threat, no matter how slight, which induces an owner to part with his property is sufficient to sustain a robbery conviction." State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 293, 830 P.2d 641 (1992).

Washington has adopted a "transactional" analysis of robbery, whereby the force or threat of force need not precisely coincide with the taking. State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 770, 790 P.2d 217 (1990). The taking is ongoing until the assailant has effected an escape. The definition of robbery thus includes "violence during flight immediately following the taking." Id.

In this case it was undisputed that the defendant committed theft. In closing argument defense counsel asked the jury to convict the defendant of Third Degree Theft. 8/19/15 RP 92. Therefore the controlling question is whether a jury could conclude that under the circumstances, a reasonable person in Mr. Irons' position would have felt sufficiently threatened by the defendant's raised bottle and the prospect of being smashed in the head with it, to induce that

person to cease efforts to retrieve the stolen alcohol or apprehend the thief. The record is clear that Mr. Irons felt exactly that way:

Q. Were you afraid?

A. Yes

Q. Did you feel like you would get hit if you continued to approach him?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Did you back away?

A. Yes.

8/18/15 RP 39. Notwithstanding defendant's current argument that his threat was not "sufficiently serious or forceful" to have an impact on Mr. Irons, the jury was entitled to believe otherwise and their unanimous verdict was far from unreasonable. Any reasonable person would interpret the combination of the defendant's words and actions as a *direct* threat to beat Mr. Irons in the head with a full glass bottle if he continued to pursue the defendant. The fact that the defendant expressed his threat with a question did nothing to mitigate the impending violence he was suggesting.

The defendant offers no comparisons between the facts of this case and any published opinion reversing a robbery conviction

due to insufficient evidence of threatened violence. One of the cases he does cite supports the State's position. In Witherspoon,

The victim testified at trial that she noticed an unknown car in her driveway when she arrived home. As she exited her car, she saw Witherspoon come around the side of her home with one hand behind his back. She testified that she asked him what he had behind his back, and he said he had a pistol. A rational jury could have found that this was an implied threat that he would use force if necessary to retain her property.

Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d at 885. When compared to this case, Mr. Jerue did not keep the glass bottle behind his back. He raised it above his own head and threatened to strike Mr. Irons on his head with it. This is a much more direct and overt threat of physical violence than the defendant displayed in Witherspoon. While it's true that a gun is a much more inherently dangerous weapon than an unopened .75 liter bottle of Fireball whiskey, the bottle was still used in a manner which would meet the definition of a deadly weapon under the law. See State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 171-172, 889 P.2d 948 (1995) (defendant's use of a bar glass to strike victim in the head was sufficient under the circumstances to classify the bar glass as a deadly weapon). A full glass bottle of whiskey carries greater potential for harm than a bar glass does. See Ex. 5; 8/18/15 RP 45.

The evidence was sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict that the defendant committed Second Degree Robbery.

B. THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED QUESTIONS ABOUT MR. IRONS VIOLATING SAFEWAY'S CORPORATE POLICY AGAINST LOSS PREVENTION OFFICERS PHYSICALLY ENGAGING WITH SHOPLIFTERS.

The defendant asserts that his constitutional right to present a defense and cross examine witnesses was violated when the trial court granted the State's motion in limine to prohibit inquiry into whether the loss prevention officer violated company policy by initiating physical contact with him. Br. App. 8-13. A trial court's ruling on a motion in limine is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and should be reversed "only if no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did." State v. O'Connor, 155 Wn.2d 335, 351, 119 P.3d 806 (2005).

While the State acknowledges the wide latitude generally afforded to criminal defendants to cross-examine State's witnesses for evidence of bias, the right to cross-examine adverse witnesses is not absolute. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 295, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). A court may deny cross-examination if the evidence sought is vague, argumentative, or speculative. State v. Jones, 67 Wn.2d 506, 512, 408 P.2d 247 (1965). The confrontation

right and associated cross-examination are limited by general considerations of relevance. See ER 401, ER 403; State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). There is no constitutional right to admission of irrelevant evidence. State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 624, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002).

The evidence at trial was uncontroverted that the loss prevention officer, Mr. Irons, initiated his interaction with the defendant by approaching him from behind, grabbing the defendant's shoulders with both hands, and swinging him around. 8/18/15 RP 25, 81. Mr. Irons admitted in his defense interview that this initiation of physical contact violated his employer's corporate policy. The policy was established in January, 2015, and Mr. Irons estimated that he violated the policy in 5 to 10 of the roughly 60 shoplifting incidents he had been involved in since that time. 8/18/15 RP 4.

The trial court excluded the proposed line of questioning on relevance grounds, but gave the defendant ample opportunity to revise his theory regarding how the violation of corporate policy tended to show that Mr. Irons was a biased or incredible witness.¹ The various arguments boiled down to two assertions; first, that the

¹ See 8/17/15 RP 10; 8/18/15 RP 4-7

policy violations showed a “pattern of behavior” supporting a theory that Mr. Irons was overly aggressive and that the defendant’s threat of violence was therefore justified as self-defense, and second, that the policy violation in this specific incident gave Mr. Irons a motive to lie about the defendant’s threat in order to justify the policy violation. None of the defendant’s theories were persuasive to the trial court, and it rejected each theory by addressing it head-on.

Regarding the self-defense argument, the court confirmed that the defendant had not formally asserted self-defense and was relying instead on a defense of general denial. 8/18/15 RP 6. While he could have asserted self-defense as to the Third Degree Assault charge, he chose not to. The same is not true for the Second Degree Robbery charge. Because robbery does not require proof of intent to inflict bodily injury, self-defense is not available as a defense to robbery. See State v. Lewis, 156 Wn. App. 230, 239, 233 P.3d 891 (2010); RCW 9A.56.190.

The defendant’s next theory was that Mr. Irons had reason to fabricate the defendant’s threat because he did not want to get into trouble for violating the company policy. The trial court noted the irrelevance of the policy violation based on the facts and timing of the incident itself. 8/17/15 RP 11. For example, the policy violation

occurred much earlier in time than the defendant's threat. Between Mr. Irons' shoulder grabbing and the defendant's threat with the bottle, a whole series of events intervened. After Mr. Irons grabbed the defendant's shoulders, which ultimately resulted in the defendant and Mr. Irons going down to the ground together, the pair returned inside the store where they were surrounded by 6 to 8 customers. One of these customers appeared to be in the process of calling 911. 8/18/15 RP 28-29. The defendant then unzipped his jacket, slipped out of it, ran out the north exit, returned to the south exit to steal one of the whiskey bottles yet again, then ran away through the parking lot with Mr. Irons pursuing from behind. 8/18/15 RP 31-35. It was only at that point, in the far corner of the parking lot, that the defendant turned around and made threats to hit Mr. Irons with the stolen bottle. 8/18/15 RP 36.

The court was correct to observe that the timing of the policy violation (i.e. Mr. Irons grabbing the defendant's shoulders), occurring well before the bottle threat, did not support the defendant's theory that the second event was a fabricated attempt to justify the first. Mr. Irons had no way of predicting that the defendant would ultimately threaten to strike him in the head with a bottle when he decided to place his hands on the defendant's

shoulders in violation of corporate policy. The defendant has yet to explain with any logical nexus, either at trial or on appeal, how a fabricated threat occurring after Safeway's policy had already been violated could serve Mr. Irons' interest in justifying his actions and therefore make him a biased witness.

The trial court also noted that Mr. Irons could not be effectively impeached by his violation of corporate policy because he had never denied it: "I'm going to tell you, I do not see any relevance as to that point, because he never denied it. Now, it might be different if he had denied having contact with Mr. Jerue, he didn't deny having contact." 8/17/15 RP 13. Without a prior inconsistent statement to expose any self-contradiction on Mr. Irons' part, the policy violation had no impact on his credibility.

Moreover, the speculative motive for Mr. Irons to lie about the bottle threat to get out of trouble for "going hands on" became even more attenuated when it came out at trial that Roberta Holman, the store manager and therefore Mr. Irons' superior, witnessed the policy violation herself and told 911 "that a male had been tackled over alcohol theft." 8/18/15 RP 112-113. If Mr. Irons' superior witnessed first-hand that he had gone hands on in violation of store policy, there was no reason to lie under oath in an effort to convince her otherwise.

The defendant's theory of bias simply did not make sense. It was irrelevant to the issues the jury needed to decide.

Finally, even if the defendant's illogical bias theory was minimally relevant, the court's ruling was necessary to avoid the inevitable confusion that would have flowed from the conflict between Safeway's internal policy and the common law right of any citizen to make a lawful arrest using reasonable force. See RCW 9A.16.080; State v. Miller, 103 Wn.2d 792, 794-795, 698 P.2d 554 (1985); State v. Gonzales, 24 Wn. App. 437, 439, 604 P.2d 168 (1979) ("The owner of a mercantile establishment or his employee may make a warrantless arrest of a thief who he has observed shoplifting...").

In this case the State alleged that the defendant committed one of his crimes, Third Degree Assault, by resisting a lawful apprehension or detention. CP 72. The lawfulness of Mr. Irons' attempted detention is a question of law, not a question of fact for the jury. State v. Garcia, 146 Wn. App. 821, 827, 193 P.3d 181 (2008). Nonetheless, the jury instructions still called for the jury to determine whether "the assault was committed with the intent to prevent and resist the lawful apprehension or detention of the defendant." CP 55. The introduction into evidence of a corporate policy which is in direct

conflict with the common law right of citizens' arrest would have confused the issues and misled the jury in violation of ER 403.

C. EVEN IF EVIDENCE OF SAFEWAY'S CORPORATE POLICY WAS EXCLUDED IN ERROR, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Where a trial court denies a defendant's right to confrontation, the court on appeal must determine "whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1438, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986). Factors important to this determination include the importance of the witness's testimony to the State's case, whether the testimony is cumulative, whether there is evidence corroborating or contradicting the witness's testimony on material points, the extent of cross-examination that was permitted, and the strength of the State's case in general. Id. A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial and the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. Id.

In this case the defendant's attorney skillfully cross-examined Mr. Irons even without the excluded line of questioning on the topic of Safeway's corporate policy. For example, on cross Mr. Irons acknowledged that he called 911 immediately after the defendant escaped by threatening him with a bottle, yet he didn't mention this threat at all in his statements to the 911 operator. 8/18/15 RP 72. This omission alone was enough to diminish the credibility of Mr. Iron's testimony about the defendant's threat. But Mr. Irons then denied the fairly obvious importance of "notify[ing] 911 who are sending a proportionate response if something has escalated to violence...". Mr. Irons said, "No, it's not important." 8/18/15 RP 73. The defense would later impeach Mr. Irons on this point when the defense investigator, Rhonda Massey, told the jury how he answered those questions in his defense interview the day before he testified:

A. I asked him, don't you think that's important information for [the] 911 operator to know, and his reply was yes.

Q. And did you follow up on that any further?

A. I did. I said, why didn't you tell them you were threatened with a bottle.

Q. And what was his response?

A. His response was I just didn't tell them.

8/19/15 RP 44.

The impeachment continued when the Mr. Irons was unwilling to reconsider the accuracy of his memory that a male customer called 911. The State's next witness, Officer Belleme, confirmed that the only people who called 911 were Roberta Holman (a female) and Mr. Irons himself. 8/18/15 RP 58-59, 112-113. The defense attorney impeached Mr. Irons yet again when she inquired about why he went back to the manager's office to review the store's video surveillance recordings after the incident. Mr. Irons claimed he could not recall telling the defense investigator that he didn't know why he tried to look at the video – he was "just doing it." 8/18/15 RP 69-70. The defense investigator impeached this testimony with evidence that he twice said he "just wanted to" during the defense interview. 8/19/15 RP 43-44.

Despite a thorough cross-examination and successful impeachment of Mr. Irons' testimony, the jury believed in the truth of the charges. It bears repeating that the theft aspect of the case was never contested, and wisely so. The credibility of defense counsel's arguments would have suffered if she did not concede that her client stole the bottle of whiskey, as he was caught shortly after the incident with the very same bottle, including the security tag, concealed in his pants pocket. The theft itself was brazen; after he was caught the

defendant wiggled out of his jacket, escaped the physical custody of Mr. Irons, and ran out of the store despite being observed by 6 to 8 customers. He then returned immediately to the store just to steal the same bottle of whiskey he had just been caught and prevented from stealing. 8/18/15 RP 28-35.

All of these uncontested points painted a picture of a daring and desperate man. The jury did not have to strain its imagination to believe that the defendant completed his escape by turning around and threatening to strike Mr. Irons in the head with a bottle. The threat was entirely consistent with the manner in which the defendant committed the theft, and the jury believed it despite defense counsel's effective impeachment of the loss prevention officer. It is true beyond a reasonable doubt that allowing one more avenue of cross-examination, about whether Mr. Irons violated Safeway's corporate policy against touching shoplifters, would have done nothing to change the jury's overall impression of the evidence. Although the court did not err in limiting the defendant's cross-examination of Mr. Irons, any error would have been harmless.

D. THE COURT SHOULD IMPOSE APPELLATE COSTS.

RCW 10.73.160 authorizes the court to exercise its discretion to require an adult offender to pay appellate costs. State v. Sinclair,

192 Wn. App. 380, 367 P.3d 612 (2016); see State v. Nolan, 141 Wn.2d 620, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). The statute expressly applies to indigent persons and expressly provides for “recoupment of fees for court-appointed counsel.” Counsel is ordinarily appointed only for indigent persons. RCW 10.73.150. If the statute does not ordinarily apply to indigent persons, then it ordinarily does not apply at all.

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